

Distr.: General 23 February 2012 Chinese Original: English

人权理事会 第十九届会议 议程项目 3 增进和保护所有人权──公民权利、政治权利、 经济、社会和文化权利,包括发展权

# 任意拘留问题工作组报告

增编

#### 对德国的访问\* \*\*

概要

任意拘留问题工作组应德国政府邀请,于 2011 年 9 月 26 日至 10 月 5 日对 德国进行了国别访问。在整个访问期间,工作组在各方面都得到了政府最充分的 合作。代表团访问了所有拘留设施,并与它请求会晤的所有被拘留者进行了私下 会晤。

工作组在柏林、汉堡、卡尔斯鲁厄和斯图加特与联邦当局和州当局举行了多 次会晤,并与国家行政、立法和司法部门的高级官员以及德国民间社会代表,包 括教会和非政府组织代表、人权维护者、律师、法学家和学术界举行了会晤。

在本报告中,工作组指出了防止任意剥夺自由的体制和法律的一些积极方面。它赞扬德国特别通过立法措施,为加强对剥夺自由的管制和改善这方面的状况而作出的努力。工作组认为,德国为消除违法犯罪行为的根源而采取的机构间 方法及其迄今为止在减少犯罪方面发挥的作用十分重要,应在德国以外加以传播 和推广。工作组特别提到警察与教育部门为合作应对影响犯罪的因素而采取的举

GE.12-10733 (C) 290212 140312

<sup>\*</sup> 本报告概要以所有正式语文分发。概要附件中所载的报告本身只以提交语文分发。

<sup>\*\*</sup> 迟交。

措。工作组还着重指出了在汉堡设立的一个独立的特别委员会,该委员会负责调 查警官涉嫌实施不当行为和虐待的案件。工作组提到的另一种最佳做法是,取消 了班主任和医院当局对接受教育或紧急医疗护理的非正常移徙儿童予以报告的义 务。

尽管取得了这些积极成就,但工作组对该国的防范性拘留制度感到关切,在 这种制度下,已经服完刑期的人员继续被剥夺自由,因为他们仍被认为对社会有 威胁。有些情况下,在最初作出判决时即预见到防范性拘留的可能性,但在另一 些情况下,防范性拘留令是在服完刑之后发出的,因为出于对其作出判决时尚且 未知的原因,犯人被认为仍然对社会有威胁。工作组在报告中提出了相称性和追 溯力问题,建议遵守联邦宪法法院为处理这些问题而设立的机制。

所关切的其他问题有:还押审讯中对诸如手铐脚镣等强制手段的使用不均, 在工作组访问的当地法院中存在明显差异;通过了为治疗目的而对病人予以拘留 的新法律,如 Therapieunterbringungsgesetz;以及被拘留的外国人和外籍德国人 的比例过高等。工作组注意到造成后一种情况的因素可能有:该国的移民法;许 多此类被拘留者处于极其弱势的社会经济地位;或者缺乏语言技能或社会支持。 工作组还注意到,司法制度在审前拘留方面不利于外国人,因为可以很容易地 说,外国人与城市或国家之间没有联系纽带,因此可能会逃跑。

工作组提出了因外国人没有有效的入境签证或签证过期,或因其非法进入德 国或非法过境而对之实施拘留的相称性问题,他们通常会被判处重刑。工作组建 议政府考虑采用拘留替代措施的可能性。

本报告提到的另一个令人关切的问题是机场"快车道"程序,特别是法兰克 福机场。工作组认为,在就政治庇护申请被驳回事宜向行政法院提起上诉方面规 定三天的期限,这不足以让申请人做好上诉准备。工作组建议在强行遣返之前进 行具体的风险评估。应当仔细评估在原籍国受到起诉和歧视的风险,并认真考虑 基本的经济和社会权利。

# Annex

# Report of the Working Group on Arbitrary Detention on its mission to Germany (26 September – 5 October 2011)

# Contents

			Paragraphs	Page
	I.	Introduction	1–3	4
	II.	Programme of the visit	4–7	4
	III.	Overview of the institutional and legal framework	8-21	5
		A. Political and institutional system	8–13	5
		B. International human rights obligations	14–18	6
		C. Judicial guarantees	19–21	6
	IV.	Findings	22–56	7
		A. Positive aspects	22–27	7
		B. Preventive detention	28-37	8
		C. The uneven use of restraints	38–39	10
		D. Patients detained for medical treatment	40	10
		E. Foreigners in detention	41–45	10
		F. Foreigners awaiting deportation	46–52	11
		G. The "fast-track" procedure at airports	53–56	12
	V.	Conclusions	57–66	13
	VI.	Recommendations	67–68	15
Appen	dices			
	I.	Detention facilities visited		16
	II.	Core United Nations human rights conventions to which Germany is a State party		17

## I. Introduction

1. The Working Group on Arbitrary Detention, which was established by the Commission on Human Rights in its resolution 1991/42 and whose mandate was assumed by the Human Rights Council in its decision 1/102 and extended for a further three-year period in Council resolution 15/18, conducted a country mission to Germany from 26 September 2010 to 5 October 2011 at the invitation of the Government. The promptness of the Government's positive response to the Working Group's request for an invitation was particularly appreciated. The Working Group's Chair-Rapporteur, El Hadji Malick Sow, its Vice-Chair, Shaheen Sardar Ali, and member Mads Andenas express the Working Group's appreciation to the Government for the full cooperation extended to the delegation during its mission. The three members of the Working Group were accompanied by the Secretary of the Working Group and a staff member of the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, as well as by local interpreters.

2. Throughout the entire visit and in all respects, the Working Group enjoyed the fullest cooperation of the Government and of all federal and state authorities with which it dealt. German authorities provided the delegation with all the necessary information and arranged all the meetings it requested. The delegation was able to conduct visits to detention facilities and to interview, without the presence of witnesses and in confidence, 69 detainees chosen at random. The detainees interviewed had previously indicated their full willingness to speak to the delegation.

3. The Working Group would also like to thank the representatives of German civil society for their support during the mission, in particular representatives of churches and faiths, as well as non-governmental organizations, human rights defenders, lawyers, academics and jurists, for the information and assistance they provided.

## II. Programme of the visit

4. The Working Group held various meetings with federal and state authorities in Berlin, Hamburg, Karlsruhe and Stuttgart. It met with senior authorities from the executive, legislative and judicial branches of the State, including the Federal Government Commissioner for Human Rights Policy and Humanitarian Aid, Markus Löning, and other officials representing the Federal Foreign Office; Parliamentary State Secretary in the Federal Ministry of the Interior Ole Schröder; the State Secretary of the Federal Ministry of Justice, Birgit Grundmann; Eva Hugo, Jürgen Mez, Frank Mengel, Jakob Sperl, Roland Brunger, Thomas Plank, Bernhard Böhm, Hans-Jörg Behrens, Christian Meiners and Jörg Filipponi, officials representing the Ministry of Justice; representatives from the Federal Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs; and representatives from the Federal Ministry for Family Affairs, Senior Citizens, Women and Youth (among them, Ralf Busch).

5. In Berlin, the Working Group was also received by representatives of the Local Court of Berlin Tiergarten; by a judge at the Higher Regional Court; and by representatives of the Senate Department for the Interior and Sport. It also met with the President of the Federal Police Regional Office, officials from the Ministry of Defence, and staff of the German Institute for Human Rights, including the Director, Beate Rudolf.

6. In the State of Baden-Württemberg, the Working Group met with judges of the Federal Constitutional Court in Karlsruhe, including Andreas L. Paulus, Erik Goetze, Andreas Stadler and Andreas Sturm. It also met with the Presiding Judge of the Federal Court of Justice, Justice Sost-Scheible, Ms. Haubmann and Federal Judge Sander. In

Stuttgart, the delegation met with the Presiding Judge of the Local Court, Justice Brigitte Legler, and Judge Gerhard Gauch.

7. In Hamburg, the Working Group met with the Presiding Judge of the Regional Superior Court, Sibylle Umlauf; the State Attorney General, Holger Lund, and Senior Public Prosecutor, Janhenning Kuhn; the State Secretary of the Senate Department of Justice and Gender Equality, Ralf Kleindiek; Senior Public Prosecutor Eva Maria Ogiermann and lawyer Jonas Finke; Stefan Lengefeld and other representatives of the Senate Department of Health, Environment and Consumer Protection; officials representing the Senate Department for the Interior and Sport; and police authorities Jost-Wilhelm Willemer, Wolfang Brand and Jens Stammer. The Working Group also held a meeting with representatives of the Hamburg Association of Defence Lawyers.

### III. Overview of the institutional and legal framework

#### A. Political and institutional system

8. Germany is a parliamentary democracy. Its Constitution, known as the Basic Law, was promulgated on 23 May 1949. At the federal level, the legislative power is vested both in the Federal Diet or Bundestag (598 seats) and the Federal Council or Bundestat (69 members). The Bundestag is elected by popular vote for a four-year term under a system of personalized proportional representation, which combines the election of individual constituency candidates in a first-past-the-post mode with the election of party lists on the level of the states (*Länder*) by proportional representation. The Head of the Government, the Chancellor, is elected by the Bundestag.

9. The legal system of Germany may be considered a civil law system. The judicial system includes ordinary courts (local courts, regional courts, higher regional courts and the Federal Court of Justice) and four types of specialized courts: administrative, labour and social (each with three levels of jurisdiction) and fiscal (two levels of jurisdiction). The Federal Constitutional Court reviews laws to ensure their compatibility with the Constitution and adjudicates disputes between different branches of government on questions of competences. It also has jurisdiction to decide claims based on the infringement of a person's basic constitutional rights by a public authority. Half of the judges of the Federal Constitutional Court are elected by the Bundestag and half by the Bundesrat.

10. The national human rights infrastructure in Germany comprises, in addition to a differentiated and specialized court system, active human rights institutions and civil society organizations, including the German Institute for Human Rights, which serves as the national human rights institution, and the Federal Anti-Discrimination Agency (ADS) created in 2006.

11. The 16 states enjoy autonomy, particularly regarding law enforcement and the courts. The police are organized at the state level. The jurisdiction of the Federal Criminal Police Office is limited to counter-terrorism, international organized crime, narcotics trafficking, weapons smuggling and currency counterfeiting. Most institutions for the incarceration of detainees are the responsibility of the states.

12. The Federal Agency for the Prevention of Torture and the Joint Commission of the States (Länder) for the prevention of torture make up the national preventive mechanism required by under the Optional Protocol to the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment. Only institutions under federal jurisdiction, namely, the Federal Defence Forces of Germany, the federal police and

Customs, fall under the mandate of the Federal Agency for the Prevention of Torture. Other institutions, such as police stations, psychiatric hospitals and prisons, lie within the jurisdiction of the Joint Commission.

13. The German Institute for Human Rights was established in March 2001 as an independent national human rights institution and given "A" status by the International Coordinating Committee of National Institutions for the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights two years later. However, the Institute does not enjoy the powers to investigate complaints, conduct national enquiries and formulate recommendations.

#### **B.** International human rights obligations

14. Germany is a party to the core universal international human rights treaties (see appendix II). It has recognized the specific competences contained in article 14 of the International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination (individual complaints); in articles 8 and 9 of the Optional Protocol to the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women (inquiry procedure) and in articles 20, 21 and 22 of the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment (the inquiry procedure, inter-State complaints and individual complaints, respectively).

15. However, Germany is not a party to the International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of Their Families.

16. Concerning the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, Germany has submitted declarations or reservations to articles 14, paragraph 3 (d); 14, paragraph 5; 15, paragraph 1; 19; 21 and 22 in conjunction with article 2, paragraph 1; as well as to article 5, paragraph 2 (a) of the first Optional Protocol.

17. Germany has formally acknowledged the full applicability of the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights to persons subjected to its jurisdiction in situations where its troops or police forces operate abroad.

18. The Working Group was told during its visit that German legislation and jurisdiction only rarely refer explicitly to international human rights norms.

#### C. Judicial guarantees

19. The Constitution prohibits arbitrary detention. Article 2, paragraph 2, of the Constitution states that freedom of the person is inviolable. Article 104, paragraph 2, adds that only judges may decide on the validity of any deprivation of liberty. Police officers must bring a person detained before a judge no later than the day after his or her arrest. They may arrest an individual only on the basis of a judicial warrant issued by a competent judicial authority, with the exception of cases in flagrante delicto (when the suspect is arrested in the act of committing an offense or when the police have strong reasons to believe that the individual intends to commit a crime). The court must charge the individual at the latest by the end of the day following the arrest.

20. The usual practice is to release detainees unless there is a clear danger of flight outside the country. Bail is infrequently imposed. Authorities can hold detainees for the duration of the investigation and subsequent trial, subject to judicial review. If a court acquits a defendant who was held in detention, the Government compensates the defendant for financial losses as well as for moral prejudice due to incarceration. Detention is executed by the states. Detainees have the right to challenge their detention at any time. They have the right to appeal before a regional Court of Appeal. If the Court of Appeal

considers that the detention should be maintained, it is possible to file an appeal before the Federal High Court.

21. The Constitution provides for the right to a fair and public trial. The law entitles a detainee to prompt access to an attorney. The required appointment of defence counsel ex officio does not depend on an accused's financial circumstances, but rather on whether the circumstances described in section 140, paragraph 1, subparagraphs 1-8, or paragraph 2, of the Code of Criminal Procedure (Strafprozessordnung, or StPO) apply. Also taken into account are the circumstances described in section 140, paragraph 2, relating to the severity of the offence, the difficulty of the factual or legal situation, and evidence indicating that the accused cannot defend himself or herself. The latter is determined by the accused's mental capacity, his or her health condition or other circumstances of the case, for example if the accused is a foreigner with comprehension difficulties that cannot be overcome through the use of an interpreter. Defendants and their attorneys have access to all courtheld evidence related to their cases. Defendants enjoy a presumption of innocence and have a right of appeal.

## **IV.** Findings

#### A. Positive aspects

22. With regard to its findings, the Working Group would like to commend the Government for the positive efforts it has made, particularly through legislative reforms, to improve the situation of deprivation of liberty in Germany. The Working Group observed that all detainees with whom it met expressed they had a good relationship with detention facility staff. The infrastructure of detention facilities all conformed to international standards. In Berlin, the Working Group found laws and regulations providing for the protection of persons with special needs, such as disabled people, elderly persons, pregnant women, victims of violence, and traumatized persons.

23. The Working Group was also informed of a number of important initiatives regarding collaboration between the police and education departments to respond to the underlying factors that have an impact on criminality. This inter-agency approach to address the socio-economic causes of offences and offending behaviour and its impact to date in reducing crime is of vital importance, and one that could be disseminated and shared beyond Germany. The Working Group would like to seek further information in this regard and recommends wide replication of the approach.

24. The Working Group notes that human rights are protected in Germany by an independent and impartial court system, with assistance from active non-governmental organizations. Among the good practices it observed is the establishment in Hamburg of an independent special commission for investigation of police officers in cases of alleged misconduct or alleged ill-treatment. The abrogation of the obligation of head teachers and hospital authorities to report children of irregular immigrants receiving education or emergency medical treatment is also a positive change.

25. The Working Group was informed that out of the estimated total number of prisoners (69,385), 10,864 are in remand detention, including an estimated 374 juveniles (statistics for 2011). This is a low rate in comparative terms. Of those in remand detention, some 3,000 have been detained for less than six months; another 4,000 have been detained for less than one year. A total of 487 persons are in preventive detention (see paras. 28 to 37 below).

26. The Working Group notes that the Government concluded a broad modification in the Aliens Act, to include measures for the protection of victims of trafficking.

27. Notwithstanding these positive achievements, the Working Group would like to raise the following issues for the attention of the Government.

#### **B.** Preventive detention

28. The term "Sicherungsverwahrung" describes the situation of detainees who have already served their sentences and are detained subsequently (preventive detention). Courts may foresee this measure initially during sentencing (foreseen preventive detention), or later, when the prisoner is deemed to represent a danger to society for reasons that were unknown at the time of his or her sentencing (post-sentence preventive detention). On 2 December 2010, a new law on post-sentence preventive detention was passed by Parliament, taking into account the judgement of the European Court of Human Rights of 17 December 2009 (*M. v. Germany*, application No. 19359/04). The Court stated that post-sentence preventive detention is subject to the ban on retroactivity in a strict sense. To date, however, the Court has not ruled out foreseen preventive detention.

29. The European Court of Human Rights has never objected to the current detention regime itself, nor have other international bodies. It has restricted itself to the consideration that post-sentence preventive detention was to be regarded as a "penalty" in terms of the European Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms and therefore subject to its ban on retroactivity. The Court did not rule out preventive detention in general. The ongoing reform was initiated by the Federal Constitutional Court in a ruling issued on 4 May 2011. The Working Group points out that compliance with international and European human rights standards now depends on the way in which the Federal Constitutional Court's judgments are followed up, in the first instance, in legislation. It has been explained that this depends on action by both federal and state legislators, and the Working Group was apprised of the work thus far, including the conclusions reached at a conference of the Ministers of Justice at both levels the week before the Working Group's visit commenced. In order to comply with international and European human rights standards, the Constitutional Court's requirements for the standards of the detention regime must be followed, in particular so that the conditions satisfy the proportionality requirements; this entails establishing a difference between preventive detention and an ordinary prison sentence. The Council of Europe procedures for the implementation of judgments, new cases before international courts and other human rights bodies, and further international monitoring will continue to contribute to this process. The continuing dialogue initiated with the Government during the visit may be of assistance in this regard.

30. The Working Group's visits to prisons in three German states have highlighted the challenges in making the regime or conditions of post-sentence preventive detention clearly different from the normal prison conditions.

31. During its visit the Working Group was able to interview several detainees subjected to the preventive detention regime, particularly in Hamburg Fuhlsbüttel Prison. These persons had already served their sentences, but continued to be deprived of their liberty because it was deemed that they still represented a danger to society. In some cases, the possibility of preventive detention had been foreseen in their initial sentencing. In other cases, preventive detention was subsequently established because it was considered that those persons constituted a danger for society for reasons that were unknown at the time of their sentencing. The detainees interviewed in the various prison and detention institutions visited showed scepticism as to the prospect of achieving a different regime.

32. During the course of its visit, the Working Group was also provided with information supporting allegations that preventive detention was being used in cases of social disorder in which the requirements, both statutory and of the Federal Constitutional Court, for such detention were not met. In one instance, a woman who had completed a medium-length sentence was being kept in preventive detention because she was suffering from a social disorder. Her detention conditions were different than those of other inmates serving criminal sentences, and there did not seem to be any prospect of any specific procedures being initiated for her release. This is one example of the types of cases in which compliance with the constitutional and international requirements will require monitoring.

33. The Working Group also raises the issue of retroactivity. Article 11, paragraph 2, of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights provides that a penalty heavier than the one that was applicable at the time the penal offence was committed cannot be imposed. Article 15, paragraph 1, of the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights provides that "no one shall be held guilty of any criminal offence on account of any act or omission which did not constitute a criminal offence, under national or international law, at the time when it was committed. Nor shall a heavier penalty be imposed than the one that was applicable at the time when the criminal offence was committed".

34. It is clear from the decision of 17 December 2009 of the European Court of Human Rights that, contrary to the long-standing domestic consensus in Germany, post-sentence preventive detention was to be regarded as a "penalty" in terms of the European Convention on Human Rights. The quoted decision was the first one ever to challenge the domestic consensus. German legislators reacted to that decision by introducing a law that was passed at the end of 2010. The issue of post-sentence preventive detention was recognized as highly problematic in all the meetings with government legal officials in federal and state ministries, prosecutors, prison officials and judges. Concerns regarding this issue are plentiful and well documented. The issue of retroactivity in the strict sense of the term was raised after the decision of the European Court of Human Rights. This is a fundamental rights issue that should not depend on European or international supervision to be set right.

35. The Working Group notes that the Constitutional Court has maintained that the German constitutional concept of punishment does not follow that of international human rights law as expressed by the European Court of Human Rights, a view with which the Working Group concurs. Namely, the latter Court's interpretation of the European Convention on Human Rights gives effect to international law, according to which postsentence preventive detention is a penalty for which a strict ban on retroactivity applies. However, the Working Group recognizes the practical problems of declaring that the German legislation was in violation of the German ban on retroactive penalties, for instance with regard to the release of detainees.

36. The solution implemented by the German Constitutional Court, that is, invoking legitimate expectations instead of the ban on retroactivity, avoids automatic releases but requires a review of the terms and conditions of the individual detentions. The Working Group is not concerned with the interpretation of the German Constitution as such, which is for the Federal Constitutional Court. However, it is concerned that priority has not been given to international law and its ban on retroactive penalties. Instead, priority was given to the concept of legitimate expectations included in German law.

37. The Constitutional Court, in its May 2011 judgment, set out a mechanism for compliance with the decision of the European Court of Human Rights on retroactivity. This also has to be given effect, and the time limits set by the Constitutional Court require swift action.

#### C. The uneven use of restraints

38. The Working Group visited first instance courts and interviewed magistrates, judges, prosecutors, defence advocates, police officials, prisoners and detainees. One issue of concern is the use of restraints, such as handcuffs and shackling, in remand hearings. The general proportionality test applied seems to be in conformity with fair trial and other relevant international standards. The issue of concern is the uneven application of restraints, with clear differences among the local courts that the Working Group visited.

39. The Working Group recommends that the use of restraints be monitored. Guidelines may provide assistance at different levels, also for the judges who must apply the relevant proportionality test.

#### D. Patients detained for medical treatment

40. The Working Group is impressed by the active constitutional dialogue over human rights that takes place in the German legislative and judicial process. However, it notes that new legislation, such as the Therapieunterbringungsgesetz (the Act that contains provisions for forcibly detaining patients for therapeutic treatment), raises some concerns. The legislation provides for the detention of a person in a closed institution when she or he is considered "highly likely" (*"mit hoher Wahrscheinlichkeit"*) to harm life, sexual self-determination or personal freedom or cause bodily harm, thereby "severely impacting" (*"erheblich beeinträchtigen"*) others. Pressure on psychiatric diagnostics, given the uncertainty as to what constitutes a mental disturbance in medicine and in law, and the questionable prospects of treatment or therapy in instances where there is no recognized treatment are issues that need further attention and clarity.

#### E. Foreigners in detention

41. Another area of interest and concern for the Working Group is the phenomenon of a significantly disproportionate number of detainees who are foreign or Germans of foreign origin. Remand detention is too easily ordered for foreigners, under the rationale of a lack of local connections. Foreigners and Germans of foreign origin constitute a high proportion of remand detainees. In Berlin, the delegation was informed that 45 per cent of detainees were foreigners, representing 55 different nationalities; in Stuttgart, 30 per cent of inmates were foreigners; in one court hearing attended, three of five juveniles were foreigners, and in holding cells at the court on the day, all were foreigners; in Hamburg, of 404 remand detainees, 249 were of non-German origin. With regard to assessing flight risk, the Government does not differentiate between residence in a European Union State and residence in other States; that is, European Union nationals are not considered to represent less of a flight risk within the meaning of section 112, paragraph 2, subparagraph 2, of the Code of Criminal Procedure, as to do otherwise would represent a violation of the prohibition against discrimination under European law. German case law also recognizes that residence abroad—be it on the part of a German or a foreigner—does not ipso facto constitute a danger of flight.

42. The disproportionately high numbers of foreigners in detention raises a number of important questions from a socio-legal perspective. Causes and factors that possibly contribute to such a profile of the detained population, may include, inter alia, the residence and immigration laws in Germany; the vulnerable socio-economic position of the group; and/or a lack of language skills and social support.

43. The criteria used to determine who is to be held in pretrial detention can also have an adverse impact on foreigners, as one of the deciding factors is whether the detainee has any links, including friends and family, to hold him or her in the city or country and hence prevent him or her from jumping pretrial bail or release. Here the judicial system works against foreigners, as it is easily argued that they have no ties to the city or country and may flee. Hence the large numbers of foreigners in pretrial detention.

44. Foreigners who unlawfully reside in Germany and who have been expelled with final and binding effect are subject to detention pending deportation. Not being in possession of a valid visa or such visa being expired are criminal offences in and of themselves. However, unauthorized residence alone does not necessarily lead to the imposition of a prison sentence. According to section 95, paragraph 1, of the Residence Act (Aufenthaltsgesetz), the statutory sentencing range for unauthorized residence is a prison sentence of up to one year or a fine. The imposition of a prison sentence is an exception, that is, imposed as a last resort. Authorities reported that in 2010, there were about 2,700 convictions for unauthorized residence; only in 251 of these cases were prison sentences handed down, and of those, 181 were commuted to a suspended sentence. In other words, in only 70 of a total of 2,700 cases did the convicted person have to serve a prison sentence solely on the grounds that they had violated residence regulations.

45. Similarly, the Working Group notes that when a foreigner is detained for a petty theft or other offence the situation becomes aggravated if the foreigner is a migrant with irregular status. Sections 112, 112 (a) and 113 of the Code of Criminal Procedure provide that the commission of a criminal offence is not ipso facto sufficient grounds for ordering remand detention. The Working Group is concerned that immigrants are more prone to being detained and arrested due to the very fact that they are foreign.

#### F. Foreigners awaiting deportation

46. Persons awaiting deportation is a further category of foreigners held in detention. On 6 July 2011, the Committee on Internal Affairs of the German Parliament adopted a draft law on, inter alia, the revision of the Residence Act for the purpose of implementing European Union Directive 2008/115/EG on common standards and procedures in Member States for returning illegally staying third-country nationals (the European Return Directive). The Directive stipulates special proportionality requirements that must be met to ensure the legality of the detention order.

47. The Working Group was informed that there are specific statutory requirements for the imposition of pre-deportation detention, especially with regard to proportionality. Section 62 of the Residence Act stipulates that detention pending deportation of more than six months up to a maximum 18 months is only permissible if the person concerned is attempting to evade deportation. Authorities are obliged by law to do everything to carry out the deportation as quickly as possible. Although according to the European Union Directive the use of pre-deportation detention is supposed to be a last resort, the Working Group received information that detention pending deportation, in practice, is often imposed too readily and for too long. If the authorities fail to comply with their obligation to accelerate matters, courts may not impose detention of minors for the purpose of their deportation seems disproportionate, especially in the case of unaccompanied minors. The best interests of the child should be a priority, in accordance with the Convention on the Rights of the Child (art. 3, para. 1).

48. Germany has a population of approximately 82 million, of which about 7 million are foreigners. The Working Group was informed that, at the time of its visit, about 7,600 foreigners were awaiting deportation. While an average of 7,700 foreigners have been

deported each year, the number has been decreasing annually. Once the detainees have served their prison sentences, they are held in immigration detention centres for a maximum of 18 months while awaiting deportation to their countries of origin. Many foreigners reach the 18-month detention limit, after which they have to be released with a "tolerated status" (*Duldung*). This tolerated status is a short-term measure, which leaves those beneficiaries vulnerable to be deported any time. The governmental institutions for law and order and justice appear to be aware of the problem.

49. Migrants and persons of non-German origin tend to live as groups in neighbourhoods with high migrant populations. Since these neighbourhoods normally constitute some of the most socio-economically vulnerable areas of towns and cities, it is important to try and integrate them into wider society by raising the residents' awareness of their rights and obligations and of the legal and judicial system, and by increasing opportunities for better social mobility. The delegation was informed that the police are working with schools and other institutions to achieve this goal. The Working Group agrees that good social policy is an effective method of crime prevention, and would be interested in receiving more information regarding these initiatives throughout the country, and any reviews of such programmes.

50. The Working Group was informed that 10 to 15 per cent of police officers in Hamburg are of non-German origin, representing 40 different nationalities.

51. With regard to punishment for illegal entry to Germany, the detention of foreigners for having crossed the border illegally, coupled with harsh sentencing, raises again the issue of proportionality and how this needs to be carefully addressed and remedied by the Government. These are examples of situations where alternatives to detention can be used.

52. Citizens of countries with a strong consular presence can be deported relatively easily. However, those nationals whose countries do not have a consulate in German cities, or whose Governments refuse to intervene, may stay in detention for the maximum allowable period (see para. 48).

#### G. The "fast-track" procedure at airports

53. The "fast-track" procedure is an accelerated process for asylum applicants from countries considered to be "safe States" of origin and asylum applicants without identification papers who try to enter Germany via an international airport. It is intended to make possible a prompt decision in simple cases, in which it is evident that the asylum application is manifestly unfounded and the Federal Office for Migrants and Refugees can determine this within two days. The Working Group is concerned about this fast-track procedure, particularly at Frankfurt Airport. According to information received by the Working Group, if the application for political asylum is rejected, the applicant has only three days to appeal to the Administrative Court. This period seems to be insufficient to allow the applicant to prepare her or his appeal. The Working Group also notes that according to the German Asylum Procedure Act, unaccompanied children aged 16 and 17 may be required to undertake the asylum procedures as adults, without the assistance of a guardian. The authorities reported that this airport procedure is, in practice, used with restraint. For example, in 2011, of 772 asylum applications submitted at Frankfurt Airport, only 58 cases were decided using the airport procedure, that is, within two days. The applicants who have been denied asylum are immediately given the opportunity to contact a legal counsel of their choice, and they may be provided with legal advice free of charge. For unaccompanied minor asylum applicants, a curator is appointed by the Youth Welfare Office.

54. Concerning the transfer of deportees, the Working Group considers that there needs to be clarity about which European Union State is responsible for asylum claims in cases of transfer. Often people are transferred for deportation purposes, against their will, to countries that may not be their country of origin. The Working Group considers that an individual risk assessment should be requested to process forcible returns. The risk of persecution and discrimination in countries of origin should also be conscientiously evaluated. This evaluation should include the consideration of essential economic and social rights, such as access to health care, education and housing.

55. The authorities pointed out that the detention in the transit area of an international airport during the airport procedure does not constitute imprisonment. The foreigner is only prevented from entering Germany, but not from continuing his or her journey on another plane. The Federal Constitutional Court upheld the airport procedure in its decision of 14 May 1996, case No. 2 BvR 1516/93. The Working Group notes that immigration detainees, particularly in Hamburg, should be accommodated in centres specifically designated for that purpose and not in prisons.

56. Given that its mandate covers the protection of asylum-seekers, immigrants and refugees against arbitrary deprivation of liberty, the Working Group requests the Government to ensure that the rights of these individuals are fully protected in accordance with international human rights standards. It requests the Government to ensure that individual procedural guarantees are granted to individuals immediately upon their detention, and to pay particular attention to issues such as interpretation, legal counselling and the provision of information, such as on the right to seek asylum. Detention should also be used as a last resort and applied in exceptional cases, for a clearly specified reason and for the shortest possible duration.

## V. Conclusions

57. Human rights are protected in Germany by an independent, solid and impartial court system, with the assistance of an active civil society and non-governmental organizations. The Working Group notes the positive efforts the Government has made, particularly through legislative reforms, to improve the situation of deprivation of liberty in Germany. A number of important initiatives regarding collaboration between the police and education departments have been taken to respond to factors impacting on criminality. This inter-agency approach to addressing socio-economic causes of offences and offending behaviour and its impact to date in reducing crime should be widely disseminated.

58. The Working Group notes a number of positive aspects with respect to the institutions and laws safeguarding against occurrences of arbitrary deprivation of liberty. In this regard, the abrogation of the obligation of head teachers and hospital authorities to report children of irregular immigrants receiving education or emergency medical treatment deserves to be mentioned. Among the good practices, the Working Group also notes the establishment in Hamburg of an independent special commission for the investigation of police officers in cases of alleged misconduct or alleged ill-treatment.

59. The Working Group has some concerns with regard to the preventive detention system, in which persons who have already served their sentences are held deprived of their liberty because it is deemed that they continue to represent a danger for society. The Working Group notes that, in some cases, the possibility of preventive detention was foreseen in the initial sentences. However, in other cases, preventive detention has been applied subsequently in situations in which the prisoner is deemed to represent a danger for society for reasons that were unknown at the time of her or his sentencing. Post-sentence preventive detention is to be regarded as a penalty and is therefore subject to the ban on retroactivity in a strict sense. The Federal Constitutional Court requirements for the standards of the detention regime should be followed, in particular so that the conditions satisfy the proportionality requirements by establishing a difference between post-sentence preventive detention and an ordinary prison sentence.

60. The Working Group would like to note that during its meetings with detainees (who included detainees being held in pretrial detention, detainees who had been sentenced and detainees who had been subjected to the preventive detention regime), it did not receive any complaint of ill-treatment against detention facility personnel or police officials.

61. The Working Group notes with concern the uneven use of restraints, such as handcuffs and shackling, in remand hearings, with clear differences among the local courts that the Working Group visited.

62. It also observes with concern the application of new legislation with regard to the detention patients medical treatment, of for such as the Therapieunterbringungsgesetz, in instances where there is no recognized medical treatment. This legislation provides for the detention of a person in a closed institution when he or she is considered likely to make an attempt against his or her own life, or against the sexual self-determination or personal freedom of others, or cause bodily harm. The treatment provided for in the Therapieunterbringungsgesetz should be aimed at addressing the cause of the mental disorder.

63. The Working Group notes the disproportionate number of foreigners and Germans of foreign origin in detention. Remand detention seems to be too easily ordered for foreigners under the rationale of a lack of local connections. This phenomenon may be due to factors such as the residence and immigration laws, the vulnerable socio-economic position of many such detainees, and/or a lack of language skills or social support. The criteria used to determine who is to be held in pretrial detention can also have an adverse impact on foreigners.

64. Foreigners who unlawfully reside in Germany and have been expelled with final and binding effect are subject to detention pending deportation. Migrants are more prone to being arrested and detained due to the very fact of being foreigners in an irregular situation. Not being in possession of a valid visa or such visa being expired are criminal offences in and of themselves. The detention of foreigners for having crossed the border illegally, coupled with harsh sentencing, raises the issue of proportionality.

65. Concerning the "fast-track" airport procedure, particularly at Frankfurt Airport, the Working Group considers that, even if foreigners are immediately given the opportunity to contact a legal counsel of their choice, the three-day period to appeal the rejection of a request for political asylum to the Administrative Court does not seem to be sufficient to allow the applicant to prepare her or his appeal. Detention should be used only as a last resort and applied in exceptional cases, for a clearly specified reason and for the shortest possible duration. The risk of persecution and discrimination in countries of origin should be conscientiously evaluated.

66. The Working Group reiterates its thanks to the Government for the cooperation extended during its visit on official mission. It has been impressed by the openness, sincerity and honesty of the Government's various institutions and the manner in which they gave the delegation access to persons in prisons, detention centres, psychiatric hospitals, courts and police stations.

#### **VI.** Recommendations

67. The Working Group encourages the Government to continue in its efforts to ensure that its institutional and legal framework regarding deprivation of liberty fully conforms to the human rights standards enshrined in international human rights standards and in its legislation.

68. On the basis of its findings, the Working Group makes the following recommendations to the Government:

(a) All appropriate measures should be taken to ensure that deprivation of liberty is only used as a measure of last resort and for the shortest possible time;

(b) States (Länder) should consider the model of independent special commissions for the investigation of police officers in cases of alleged misconduct or alleged ill-treatment, such as that established in Hamburg;

(c) Concerning the post-sentence preventive detention regime, the Working Group recommends that the Government give full effect to the mechanism set out by the Federal Constitutional Court in its May 2011 judgement for the compliance with the decision of the European Court of Human Rights;

(d) The use of restraints, such as handcuffs and shackling, in remand hearings should be monitored; guidelines would provide assistance in the application of the relevant proportionality test;

(e) The use of alternatives to detention for foreigners who are not in possession of a valid visa or whose visa is expired should always be considered;

(f) The issue of proportionality in the detention of foreigners for illegal entry to the country or for illegal border crossing, coupled with harsh sentencing, should be carefully addressed;

(g) An individual risk assessment should be requested to process forcible returns of foreigners, particularly in the cases of foreigners requesting political asylum. The risk of persecution and discrimination in countries of origin should be evaluated, and essential economic and social rights should be considered;

(h) The Government should consider extending the mandate of the German Institute for Human Rights to structural and factual monitoring, as well as its consultative role in the process of drafting legislation with human rights relevance. The Institute should be allocated adequate human, financial and technical resources;

(i) The Government should consider promulgating a binding legal regulation by the Parliament establishing that the Convention on the Rights of the Child and its Optional Protocols have priority over alien and asylum laws.

# Appendices

# **Appendix I**

# **Detention facilities visited**

#### In Berlin

- The police station at Berlin's main rail station (no detainees at the time of the visit; 1,776 detainees since 1 January 2011)
- The Moabit Remand Prison (a 130-year-old prison; at the time of the Working Group's visit, 1,050 male detainees from 55 different nationalities; maximum capacity of the prison is 1,100 persons)
- The Köpenick Centre for persons detained pending deportation

#### In Hamburg

- The Remand Prison (UHA)
- Fuhlsbüttel Prison (400 places)

#### In Karlsruhe

• The Nordbaden Psychiatric Centre

#### In Stuttgart

• The Schwäbisch Gmünd Penal Institution (JVA Schwäbisch Gmünd)

## **Appendix II**

## Core United Nations human rights conventions to which Germany is a State party

- International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination
- International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights
- · International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights
- · Optional Protocol to the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights
- Second Optional Protocol to the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, aiming at the abolition of the death penalty
- Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women
- Optional Protocol to the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women
- Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment
- Optional Protocol to the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment
- Convention on the Rights of the Child
- Optional Protocol to the Convention on the Right of the Child on the involvement of children in armed conflict
- Optional Protocol to the Convention on the Right of the Child on the sale of children, child prostitution and child pornography
- · Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities
- · Optional Protocol to the Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities
- International Convention for the Protection of All Persons from Enforced Disappearance

#### Other main relevant international instruments

- · Convention on the Prevention and Punishment of the Crime of Genocide
- Convention relating to the Status of Refugees
- · Convention relating to the Status of Stateless Persons
- Geneva Conventions of 12 August 1949 and Additional Protocols thereto; except its Protocol III
- · Fundamental conventions of the International Labour Organization
- The Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court
- The Protocol to Prevent, Suppress and Punish Trafficking in Persons, Especially Women and Children, supplementing the United Nations Convention against Transnational Organized Crime (Palermo Protocol)
- The Convention against Discrimination in Education